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PREFACE





  1865 WAS A MOMENTOUS YEAR. The American Civil War was drawing to a close with the surrender of General Robert E. Lee and the assassination of Abraham Lincoln in Ford’s Theatre. Slavery in the United States was about to be abolished. And far away in the beautiful Abbey of St. Thomas in the small provincial city of Brno in the Austro-Hungarian Empire, a short bespectacled abbot with a love of botany was putting the finishing touches to his studies on pea breeding. Unwittingly, the abbot was about to unleash a chain of events that would lead directly to the remarkable story of anguish and courage that you are about to read.




  The abbot was Gregor Mendel, and his work on pea hybrids revealed for the first time the fundamental laws of inheritance that apply just as well to you and me as to his pea plants. Mendel had discovered genes, the particles of inheritance. It took another eighty-eight years for scientists to work out exactly what these particles look like—the DNA double helix—thanks to James Watson and Francis Crick.




  My own involvement came, as happens in science, entirely by accident. I had joined the Department of Genetics at the University of Leicester in the English Midlands as a rookie lecturer in 1977. My fascination was with exploring inherited variation directly in human DNA. By total chance, we stumbled onto bits of DNA that varied hugely between people, allowing us for the first time to identify individuals by their DNA. Thus was DNA fingerprinting born. By a strange twist of fate, in the very year of the first DNA fingerprint, a young girl was raped and murdered and a man was convicted of this terrible crime and sentenced to death—that man was Kirk Bloodsworth.




  Everyone now knows that DNA can be used in criminal investigations—with high profile court cases and popular TV series like CSI it would be hard not to know of the power of DNA to identify the guilty. But what of the innocent? In fact, the first time we used DNA in a criminal investigation, way back in 1985, it led to a prime suspect in a similar case of rape and murder being shown to be innocent of the crime. Without our DNA evidence, and given his (false) confession, I have no doubt that he would have been convicted and sentenced to life in prison. Here was DNA as a two-edged sword, clearing the innocent as well as identifying the guilty.




  The current impact of DNA on police work is huge. The numbers speak for themselves: in the United Kingdom, our national criminal DNA database now carries some three million DNA profiles and has already proved crucial in over five hundred thousand investigations. But these bald numbers hide countless personal stories—some squalid, some touching, some tragic, but none I think as extraordinary and inspiring as that of Kirk and his quest to escape death row.




  My wife, Sue, and I had the great privilege of meeting Kirk and his wife, Brenda, last year at an award ceremony in London. This was emotional stuff—here was a gentle giant of a man who has turned a personal tragedy into a force for great good. Kirk is DNA’s champion, tirelessly campaigning for testing of DNA evidence of convicted people, with over 150 individuals who served long sentences or faced state execution now freed from U.S. jails. We need a Kirk in Britain too.




  I am delighted to see Kirk’s story published. This is an extraordinary tale of terrible injustice, of anguish and frustration, of courage and fortitude. It’s a tale of a truly good and inspirational man. And of the true power of DNA.




  Sir Alec Jeffreys


  Leicester


  June 6, 2005




  
PART I


  A STAIN LIFTED





  And so, to the end of history, murder shall breed murder, always in the name of right and honor and peace, until the gods are tired of blood and create a race that can understand.




  —GEORGE BERNARD SHAW




  
ONE





  IN THE LATE AFTERNOON of April 27, 1993, Bob Morin sat in his law office located near the city courthouse in Washington, D.C., and stared out his window at the new Olsson’s bookstore across the street. There were books in there he’d wanted to read for years but couldn’t find the spare hours. Morin had been up most of the night assisting lawyers in Austin on an emergency petition for a stay of execution on behalf of a Texas inmate scheduled to die by lethal injection. For weeks, he’d been immersed in preparing to defend a man at trial facing a possible death sentence in Maryland. He’d also been assisting lawyers in Georgia and South Carolina on numerous postconviction strategies in capital cases in those states. And he’d been preparing pleadings opposing the federal government’s first attempt to apply a new death penalty law in a military tribunal. That April afternoon, Morin had just returned from a meeting with the federal prosecutors at the Department of Justice. His khaki suit was creased, his tie undone. He wanted to change into the blue jeans, pullover shirt, and sandals that he usually wore in the office and that lay in a heap on the floor, but he felt too tired to move.




  Morin looked over a desk piled high with files. His gaze stopped on the dream catcher tacked to his office door. It was an authentic Navajo relic, presented to him by a grateful client. Raised a Boston Catholic, he preferred the simple Native American spirituality to any institutional religion. He studied the dream catcher on his door and made a wish for the one client whose image he couldn’t shake, the one client who was haunting his thoughts. He took a deep breath, looked up a number on his Rolodex, picked up the phone, and dialed long distance.




  At forty years old Bob Morin had devoted most of his legal career to assisting people facing the death penalty. By age thirty he had walked away from both a lucrative position in private practice and a promising academic career at Georgetown University to join the Southern Center for Human Rights in Atlanta in an effort to fight the swelling tide of death sentences being imposed and carried out in nine southern states. From there he’d gone on to become a public defender in Maryland, specializing in death penalty cases, and then in the nation’s capital he formed a small law firm dedicated to helping death row inmates. Morin had long believed that the way the death penalty was being imposed in the United States was unjust. Now, having spent years battling executions in state after state, he’d become certain of something else—that there were inmates facing execution or serving life terms in prison who were innocent. One such person, in whose innocence Morin had come to believe strongly, was Kirk Bloodsworth.




  Kirk Noble Bloodsworth had been sentenced to die in Maryland’s gas chamber for the 1984 rape and murder of a nine-year-old girl. After being granted a new trial by a Maryland appellate court, Bloodsworth had been convicted a second time. His appeals to the higher courts in Maryland had all been exhausted. In February 1989 Morin had received a call from Gary Christopher in the state public defender’s office, asking him to meet with Bloodsworth. “Every lawyer who’s touched this case believes the kid is innocent,” Christopher had said. Morin had been reluctant. He knew that Bloodsworth’s sentence after his second trial had been changed from death to two consecutive life terms. Morin was swamped with death penalty cases and felt like a triage doctor at a disaster site. He had so many clients scheduled for execution that he couldn’t afford to spend time trying to help one facing only a double life sentence. But when Christopher called a second time, Morin, as a favor to a colleague, agreed to visit this kid Bloodsworth. He had no intention, though, of becoming his lawyer.




  A month later, in late March, Morin and his partner, David Kagan-Kans, had driven to the Maryland Penitentiary to meet with another client. They figured they’d briefly interview Bloodsworth while at the prison. The plan was to hear the man out, then politely tell him that they just didn’t have the time or the resources to take on his case. Over the years Morin had interviewed hundreds of incarcerated prisoners seeking a lawyer’s help and knew all too well the typical convict rap.




  “Kirk came into the interview room all pumped up,” Morin recalls. “He was a big kid, and he’d been lifting weights. His hair was long and shaggy, wild looking. He had bushy sideburns and a Wyatt Earp mustache running down his face. He wore mirrored sunglasses and had a pack of Kool Filter Kings rolled up in his sleeve. The classic biker con. I figured the interview would be short . . .”




  Bloodsworth immediately took off his sunglasses. His eyes were teary. He shook hands with the two lawyers. “The first thing I want to do is apologize for the way I look,” he said. “This is not me. This is not who I am. But this is the way I have to look to survive in this place. This is what I’ve had to become . . .”




  Morin had never had a prisoner come on to him like this before. They talked further. Bloodsworth seemed interested in the little girl who had been killed. As though he had a connection to her. He wanted more than just to get out of prison. He stressed not only that he was innocent, that he didn’t commit the crime, but that he wanted to find out who did. “For the sake of the little girl,” he kept emphasizing.




  Morin began trying to explain the legal difficulties to Bloods-worth. He told him there were immense hurdles to overturning his conviction a second time, particularly as his appeals were over. Even if a legal basis to further contest his conviction could be found—a constitutional violation previously overlooked or significant new evidence unknown at the time of his second trial—no judge, state or federal, would be eager to put the victim’s family through the ordeal of a third trial. And even if a new trial were granted, how would they go about convincing a jury that there was reasonable doubt?




  “Mr. Morin, I appreciate what you’re saying,” Bloodsworth interrupted him, “but this is not about reasonable doubt. If you’re going to be my lawyer, you need to understand this. I did not do this. I am innocent. This is what we must prove. I am not here to get a lawyer to raise a reasonable doubt. If you take this on, it is not to raise a technicality—I am innocent. We must prove that. We must prove who really did this.”




  Morin was amazed. He’d never heard an inmate talk like this. But he did know some things about this one that were extraordinary. He’d learned that Bloodsworth had written hundreds of letters from prison proclaiming his innocence, that every day this man woke up thinking of a new person to write. Every day, seven days a week, for five years . . . A guilty man, Morin figured, just wouldn’t have the energy, the perseverance, the will.




  “Kirk,” Morin responded. “You say you are innocent—”




  Bloodsworth interrupted him again. “Mr. Morin,” he said, “if you’re going to be my lawyer you just can’t use phrases like that. It’s not that I’m just saying that I’m innocent. I truly am innocent. And we have to find the person who really did this.”




  BOB MORIN AND David Kagan-Kans walked together out of the prison without saying a word. Morin was frustrated, angry. They stood together on the stone curb outside the penitentiary walls. The sky was overcast, the air chilly. Traffic whizzed by. Morin slammed his file down on the hood of his old Chevy. The last thing he needed was this—an innocent client with no money, with almost no hope or chance. While the public defender’s office might provide some small stipend for the representation, it would be a major undertaking involving hundreds of hours, a case his small firm would probably have to fund, and one that would further exhaust resources that were already stretched thin. He looked at his partner. They were thinking the same thing. “You know we have to do this,” Morin said.




  “I know,” Kagan-Kans answered.




  “It’s going to be a bear. I mean, how are we ever going to prove he’s innocent? I’m just not sure we can do anything for this kid.”




  “Right,” Kagan-Kans answered. “Right.”




  Two prison guards in brown uniforms walked by. Kagan-Kans stretched out his arms and looked up at the low sky, which had begun to spit. He lowered his head and watched his partner. “But isn’t this why we became lawyers?”




  Morin smiled and nodded. He picked up his file and got into his car.




  
TWO





  OVER THE FOLLOWING THREE Years, from early 1989 through early 1992, neck deep in dozens of other pressing death penalty cases and trying to help his wife raise their two young sons, Bob Morin devoted every spare minute to the details of Kirk Bloodsworth’s life, his case, the circumstances of the crime, the manner of the police investigation, and the actual trials. All of this and particularly Bloodsworth himself—his background, his natural dignity—further convinced Morin that he had an innocent man for a client. The dilemma was how to prove it.




  Trying to find some basis on which to make a case, some edge, however slight, Morin exhausted every available legal remedy. Building on what other lawyers representing Bloodsworth had done before him, he hired investigators to pursue leads concerning other suspects dismissed by the police, searching under every rock from Maryland to California to try to find evidence that would establish the identity of the real murderer. The information pointing to a different killer that he amassed was disturbing, even convincing, but not legally sufficient to clear Bloodsworth. Morin tried to locate the child eyewitnesses, witnesses who’d since grown up whose testimony convinced two juries to convict his client, to see if they’d admit to error or a change of mind. He prepared and filed a habeas corpus petition, known as a collateral attack, a way to challenge the conviction on federal constitutional grounds never raised before. He even tracked down evidence of two murders that occurred after Bloodsworth’s incarceration, murders that bore features strikingly similar to the crime for which his client was convicted. He was hoping to establish that a killer with the same modus operandi was still at large and that Bloodsworth thus was innocent. Again, this information, while unsettling, was not legally sufficient to compel his client’s release. Morin had come up empty on all counts. Every effort led to a dead-end. He had nearly lost hope and given up when Kirk Bloodsworth’s own reading and bullheaded obstinacy convinced Morin to reconsider the use of an emerging forensic tool, one unheard of just seven years earlier, in 1985, when Bloodsworth was initially tried.




  Kirk had been reading everything he could get his hands on in the prison library—newspaper articles, magazine pieces, legal treatises and appellate cases from old law books, as well as other second-hand books donated to the prison by local civil rights groups, churches, and charities. He read with a purpose, looking always for a door, a hook, anything to help prove his innocence. He had come across a recently published work of nonfiction, a true crime story by Joseph Wambaugh titled The Blooding, that described how in England a scientific technique called genetic fingerprinting was first used to solve a double murder. A young scientist there, Alec Jeffreys, had discovered a way to identify and compare DNA patterns extracted from blood or semen samples, patterns that like fingerprints are unique to each individual. In the village of Narborough, near the city of Leicestershire, two teenage girls had been raped and killed three years apart. The assailant had left semen on the body and clothes of each victim. By using his genetic fingerprinting, Jeffreys determined that the killer of both girls was the same man. The Leicestershire Constabulary, relying on this new science, had then undertaken to obtain a blood sample from every sexually active male living in the vicinity and to compare the DNA from each with that left by the killer. Incredibly, over a period of several years, police “blooded”—drew and tested the blood from—over three thousand men. Alec Jeffreys’s technique worked. In late 1987 the investigators found the DNA match. They arrested the killer, who confessed to both crimes. Kirk Bloodsworth read the book in one sitting and excitedly contacted Morin.




  In 1989, when Morin had first accepted Bloodsworth as a client, DNA testing was still in its early stages, though it was starting to generate interest in the legal community. Few people, however, seemed to understand its applications, how it worked, or how to interpret its results. It had never been used defensively in a capital case or to clear a convicted murderer. Nonetheless, Morin had considered whether a DNA test might help Kirk. He’d contacted a leading DNA laboratory in the country, Cellmark Diagnostics, to learn what would be needed to pursue a DNA analysis. Morin had reviewed all of the forensic reports in the file. The FBI had analyzed the crime scene evidence and reported that there had not been any spermatozoa or foreign blood specimens detected or preserved. Though cotton swabs had been used to gather fluid samples from the victim at autopsy, which were then smeared on glass slides, no semen had been found by the FBI. Morin had written to Bloodsworth’s prosecutors, requesting that any fluid specimens of the assailant be tested. They’d written back, reiterating that no such fluid specimens existed. According to Cellmark Diagnostics, even if the slides had contained identifiable semen, Cellmark’s testing techniques in 1989 could not analyze trace specimens preserved on glass slides. Moreover, any attempt to test them would probably completely destroy any existing DNA sample.




  But Kirk, fired up after reading The Blooding, blew over all these old “details.” He wanted a DNA test pursued. He called Morin repeatedly and pestered him about it. He wanted the evidence sent to a private DNA lab for testing. Morin knew that the science was changing fast. DNA technology was in a dynamic state. Scientists around the world were experimenting with improved methods for identifying, extracting, and testing DNA from a variety of sources. Breakthroughs probably would be forthcoming. If his client would be patient, Morin believed, the techniques might improve. The risks of an unsuccessful test destroying any remaining DNA might diminish. Morin cautioned his client to wait, to be patient. But Kirk was done with waiting. He was the one rotting away in a cell. “My life’s not worth living in here,” he told his lawyer. “Guys get jammed here every week. Black Smoky last month—somebody tied his neck to an overhead steam pipe. Guards called it suicide. And he was decent. One of the few.”




  They sat in the visiting room of the penitentiary surrounded by inmates. A March snow fell outside the barred window. Next to them a couple kissed while a guard pretended to look away. In the corner, another inmate, watching the couple kissing, played with himself.




  Kirk was quiet, but unyielding. “And it’s more than that. Living with what they’ve done to me I’d rather go for broke. It’s my call now. You told me that. And I want it tested.”




  Bob Morin, despite three years of effort, knew he had run out of options. Although he believed the attempt would prove futile, he agreed to revisit a DNA analysis for Kirk. Initially, he wasn’t even sure where to begin. The road turned out to be as twisted as the bizarre facts surrounding Kirk Bloodsworth’s convictions.




  
THREE





  ACCORDING TO THE FBI, the physical evidence collected at the murder scene in 1984 had yielded no useful information. In an effort to look for a possible blood type back then, cotton swabs had been used to capture fluid specimens from the victim’s vagina and rectum at autopsy. Residue from these swabs was then smeared on glass slides and stained with a preservative. While the state medical examiner, using a microscope, had noted some spermatozoa on the slides, the FBI had analyzed the cotton swabs and determined that no semen was present. The FBI also reported that no semen traces and no foreign blood had been found on the victim’s clothing.




  Morin had first to determine whether this crime scene evidence still existed, and if so, where it was stored. If he could locate the evidence, he’d have to then persuade both the prosecutors and the court to permit him access to the evidence to send it off for testing. He’d have to further research testing facilities—find the labora-tory with the most advanced techniques in DNA analysis, one that would be willing to take on the challenge. If all this could be accomplished, and even in the unlikely event that traces of sperm were found, he didn’t know whether DNA could be retrieved and analyzed from such traces, particularly after the passage of so much time.




  When Bob Morin first agreed to represent Bloodsworth, he’d obtained a court order requiring the state to preserve all of the existing evidence. He learned that the cotton swabs were still available at the FBI. Through persistent calls and interviews, he discovered that the state medical examiner’s office had kept the glass slides preserved in a freezer. By personally rummaging through the court clerk’s office, Morin also found the victim’s clothing, the murder weapon, and the other physical evidence taken from the crime scene in a cardboard box. This was a start.




  Morin understood that most efforts to lift preserved specimens of DNA off glass slides still were unsuccessful. The stain used to preserve the specimens on slides back in 1984, before genetic fingerprinting was even heard of, tended to degrade the DNA, and the most widely used technique for analyzing DNA—the one employed by Cellmark and most other labs—usually consumed the sample, leaving nothing left to test. Morin discovered, though, that a laboratory in Richmond, California, was employing an advanced technology that was capable of extracting and analyzing DNA from a very small amount of biological material. Forensic Science Associates was run by Dr. Edward T. Blake, a leading scientist in the developing field of forensic use of DNA for criminal identification purposes. Blake’s lab, employing this new technique for amplifying DNA, known as PCR—polymerase chain reaction—was capable, under some circumstances, of identifying and reproducing tiny amounts of genetic material so that it then could be successfully analyzed. Given the FBI’s findings, and believing that the slides and swabs were probably of no help, Morin asked if Blake’s lab could examine and test all of the crime scene evidence, including the girl’s clothing, the scrapings underneath her fingernails, the murder weapon as well. If he was going to take a last shot, he figured he’d at least put everything in the hopper. If any semen could be found or blood that was not the victim’s, and DNA retrieved, it could be compared with a DNA sample from Kirk Bloodsworth. Dr. Blake’s lab was willing to test it all, provided it got paid. The cost, the lab estimated, could run between $10,000 and $12,000.




  Fortunately for Bloodsworth, his conviction and imprisonment had remained controversial. Questions occasionally still surfaced in the press about the quality of the evidence against him—that most of it was circumstantial, that no scientific proof tied him to the crime scene, and that the two key identification witnesses against him had been a seven-year-old and a ten-year-old. The prosecutors who tried and convicted him were cocksure that Bloodsworth was the murderer, but they were rankled by the lingering doubts. While skeptical that a DNA test would shed any light on the crime, they were certain that if it did, it would resolve any question about Bloodsworth’s guilt. Consequently, they cut a deal with Morin. Provided Morin was willing to pay for the test, they’d agree to release the crime scene evidence to Morin to be sent to the laboratory. If any DNA could be retrieved and identified, it would be matched against Bloodsworth’s. The results would then be made public, whatever they showed. The prosecutors told Morin that they looked forward to scientific confirmation that Bloodsworth was the murderer.




  Morin talked it over with his partners, Gerry Fisher and David Kagan-Kans. The three were seated at a card table they sometimes used for conferences in their office. Morin told them that the test would probably yield no new information. The lab expense was steep, and there was little likelihood they’d be reimbursed. Still, he needed to be able to tell Kirk Bloodsworth that he had done everything in his power to help him.




  “I’ll just have to find another couple of fee cases,” Gerry Fisher said, leaning back. “Beat the bushes a bit.”




  “Yeah,” David Kagan-Kans said. “Me too.”




  In August 1992, after months of negotiations and wrangling over arrangements with the prosecutors, Morin obtained the evidence and sent it, along with a sample of Kirk’s blood, to the California lab. Three months passed with no word. He was not surprised. He had no expectations.




  The day before Thanksgiving, Morin received the strangest and most unexpected of phone calls. A lab technician working for Dr. Blake called late in the evening. She said they’d found a stain of semen on the girl’s underpants. Morin was astonished. Back in 1984 the FBI lab had reported that there wasn’t any identifiable semen on the panties.




  “Are you sure?” he asked.




  “I’m looking through the microscope at the little sperm heads right now,” she answered.




  She wanted to know if Morin wanted the semen found on the girl’s panties lifted and tested. She cautioned him. Utilizing the PCR technology, a DNA test could only exclude about 90 percent of the population. Morin’s client could be grouped in that other 10 percent, she advised. There was a significant risk that DNA from the sperm might be compatible with Kirk Bloodsworth’s, even if he weren’t the actual donor. And Morin remained concerned that the test might compromise the sample, that there might not be the opportunity to test the semen again. Did he want to take the risk?




  MORIN DROVE TO Baltimore and met with Kirk on Thanksgiving Day. Kirk had just finished a plate of turkey and watered-down mashed potatoes. Morin told him the good news and the bad. He explained that if the DNA from the sperm stain was found to be consistent with Kirk’s DNA, while not probative of anything, Kirk’s effort to free himself would be over.




  Kirk, when he heard they’d found a trace of semen on the girl’s panties, started crying. It took him several minutes to compose himself. He listened carefully to Morin’s cautionary warnings, nodding the entire time. “Test it,” he said, as tears streamed down his large, flushed faced. “Test it. It’s there for a reason. It’s my ticket out of here. Test it . . .”




  But by April 1993 the results were long overdue. It had been eight months since the lab had first received the evidence and five long months since the semen had been discovered. Kirk was scared and anxious. He called Morin almost daily. Morin tried to calm him, to reassure him. With each passing week, though, Morin had grown more worried himself. What test could possibly take so long to complete? Had the semen stain even yielded a testable DNA sample? Would the results ever come? And what might they show?




  It was the telephone number of Dr. Edward Blake that Morin dialed late on the afternoon of April 27, 1993. He’d run out of excuses to give Kirk, run out of his own wick of patience. The phone rang just once. Morin was taken aback when Dr. Blake answered it personally. Morin introduced himself. He asked about the Kirk Bloodsworth test results.




  “Bloodsworth?” he heard Dr. Blake say. “Bloodsworth? Yes, Bloodsworth . . . Yes, yes, I have him right here.” Morin could hear Blake rustling through papers on the other end of the line. The DNA scientist seemed to take forever. Morin closed his eyes, held his breath, and waited.




  
FOUR





  AT ALMOST THE SAME MOMENT, about fifty miles away, Kirk Bloodsworth entered a room in the Maryland Penitentiary designated as the prison library. He’d been lifting weights with Stanley Norris, known as Bozo because he had hair like the clown’s, and Big Tony, who had once been a Hell’s Angel and could bench press 500 pounds. Kirk, himself, had pressed 380 that day. He was burly, overweight from the prison food, wore a bandanna around his head and his dark sunglasses. His faded purple T-shirt was damp with sweat from his workout. On his way to the library, he’d been listening to his Walkman radio through the earphones. The disc jockey had been playing hard rock and heavy metal hits from the past. Kirk had listened to one of his favorites, Guns N’ Roses playing “Welcome to the Jungle.” Music that touched on his world, that sought to reflect or capture his mean existence, had become an important source of both solace and escape in the prison. A few years before, when inmates had rioted and taken over Dormitory C, near where his cell was located, and he’d heard the incessant screams of an inmate who was beaten and raped sixteen successive times, he’d played a Guns N’ Roses tape over and over to drown out the terrible sound.




  The DJ that afternoon followed up with a song by Ozzy Osbourne, known as the grandfather of heavy metal. The song was called “Mama, I’m Coming Home.” Hearing it, Kirk had stopped in his tracks and leaned against the tier wall. Kirk considered himself a religious man, but in a waterman’s way—drinking, smoking pot, womanizing—these were just part of his life as a Chesapeake Bay crabber. Along with his faith in God, he also believed in portents, dreams, and mysticism. He’d been born on Halloween and was convinced that spirits inhabited an invisible world connected to this one. In prison he’d converted from Protestant to Catholic. He liked the ritual, the symbolism, the mystical side of the Catholic Church. Hearing Ozzy Osbourne that afternoon sing “Mama, I’m Coming Home” gave him a jolt. He had always liked and admired Osbourne’s music. He’d only heard this song a few times, but its refrain was the wish and hope of his life. Kirk felt it might be a sign. Hearing the song made him both hopeful and afraid.




  Once in the library, Kirk sat at a steel table in the center of a small windowless room around which a couple of hundred books were stacked on institutional shelving crumbling with rust. The books were all secondhand, old law books mostly, some dime store mysteries, some true crime accounts; a few were hardbacks with their covers still intact but most looked ragged and dog-eared. Kirk had spent thousands of hours in this room. He believed that he had read nearly every book on the shelves. For a waterman’s son, he thought to himself humorlessly, he’d become damn well read.




  He had entered the library to begin drafting yet another of the hundreds of letters he still wrote and sent out regularly protesting his innocence in the crime of raping and murdering Dawn Venice Hamilton. He signed each and every one “Kirk Bloodsworth—A.I.M.—An Innocent Man.” He set a sheet of paper on the table and started writing a letter, this one to Lou Ferrigno, the Incredible Hulk. Kirk tried to write to everyone he admired. He began each letter with a description of who he was and where he’d come from. Halfway through this letter he stopped and set the pen down. Writing about his past made him think of his mother, Jeanette. Kirk had lost her to a massive heart attack three months earlier, the day of President Clinton’s first inauguration. Kirk had been taken—in handcuffs, a waist chain, and leg irons—to view her body for five minutes alone in a closed room, though he had been refused permission to attend her funeral. He’d convinced himself that she’d died of a broken heart over what had happened to her son, over what he’d gotten himself into. He thought of her as his angel and knew if spirits ever helped people, she would help him. Since her death, he’d thought of her constantly, missing her with a physical ache. He could see her there, in their home in the small town of Cambridge, Maryland, where he grew up. He shut his eyes to picture her more clearly. And then without meaning to, he drifted off.




  Kirk would remember later that he dreamed that day of himself as a boy, free on the marsh, running his skiff on a silver river, a dream that was both momentarily peaceful yet troubling. In the dream he was at first small, just five or so, wearing the snowsuit his mother had sewn for him and helping his father tong for oysters on the broad Choptank River. The near shore was pocked with ice and foam, the gray green waves chased by the wind, and his father smiling as the boy culled the oysters, his father strong and the white workboat safe and sturdy. Then he was maybe ten and was in cutoff waders, sloughing through the gum thickets off Blackwater Marsh, setting his muskrat traps in the predawn quiet, the air expectant, the horizon glowing lilac in the flat oval of his water-bound world, the waves lapping the marsh grass, the first sound of the birds. And then he was nearly full size, the year he first started crabbing. He saw his silhouette in the mist, rowing a boat on water that was flat and smoky. His mother was there standing on a dock. She waved to him, then beckoned. His dream was interrupted by a tug on his arm. A prison guard, Sergeant Cooley Hall, stood over him.




  Sergeant Hall, a dark Trinidadian with a wide grin and a penchant for whistling, had always been friendly to Kirk. Hall had a message for him written on a piece of scrap paper. He waited for Kirk to wake fully and adjust himself and then he handed it to him. It was from Kirk’s lawyer, and it was marked urgent. Kirk focused more closely. He read the word urgent again and read that Bob Morin wanted him to call immediately. Kirk’s eyes opened wide and he sat up straight. He looked at Hall, then back at the message. Then he placed a hand over his face to hide his emotion, to keep himself from shaking.




  Kirk Bloodsworth was thirty-two years old and would ever after remember the date and the time he got that message. The offspring of generations of Chesapeake Bay watermen, he’d grown up crabbing and fishing the rivers and creeks on the Eastern Shore of Maryland, and trapping the Dorchester marshes, as befit the descendant of an independent, free, and proud breed. His ancestors had emigrated to Maryland from Great Britain and Ireland in the 1600s and an island in the Chesapeake Bay just below Cambridge, Maryland—Bloodsworth Island—had been named for his forebears. A high school graduate, he’d been a marine and a champion discus thrower. But for the past nine years he had lived a nightmare that he could not understand, account for, or articulate.




  For nine years of his life he’d been locked up in prison, most of it in the hellhole known as the South Wing of the Maryland Penitentiary—nine years of eating inedible food, shivering in a dim cold cell in the winter or sweltering in what became an unventilated sweatbox in the summer; nine years of being cursed as a child rapist and killer, of being threatened daily by other inmates, of having to lift weights with the Pagans and the Hell’s Angels in order to stay fit and able to fight for survival in the shower, of having to fend off shanks and clubs made of batteries crammed into socks, of hearing at night toothbrushes being sharpened into knives on the prison floor; worst of all, nine years of being despised by the outside world, of being mistrusted by his family, of being embarrassed about what he’d become and the way he had to live. Nine years of this before the afternoon Sergeant Hall tapped him on the shoulder and gave him the message.




  The first time Kirk had met Sergeant Cooley Hall, back in 1985, he’d told him that he was being held hostage, that Hall was holding an innocent man. When Hall heard this he laughed aloud. He had a deep bass laugh that he seemed to exhale like a shout. He was one of the few people who Kirk ever heard laugh inside the prison. “Everyone in the pen is innocent, mon, don’t you know?” Hall had told him. “You just one more innocent lamb, Mister Bloodmon. One more innocent lamb . . .” And he had continued to laugh as he walked away. But Kirk had reminded Hall nearly every day of the fact that he was innocent and that he was being held hostage. “You know you got an innocent man, here?” Kirk would say when Hall would walk with him to the commissary. “You holding an innocent man hostage, now. I just want you to know it.” Sometimes Hall, in that accent of his, would say quickly, “No, no, no! I don’t hold you nowhere! Da’ government got you, not me.” Kirk had repeated his claim of innocence, though, so often and so regularly through the years, that Hall had stopped laughing about it and stopped denying it. And then Kirk had stopped repeating it. It had become an unspoken token between them. Hall was just one of many in the prison who thought Kirk might be speaking the truth.




  While Hall had been standing there, the blood had drained from Kirk’s face as he’d reread the piece of scrap paper, then stared at it as if mesmerized. Kirk’s hand trembled as he asked Hall if he could use the phone. Hall smiled. His grin was gleaming white against his dark face. “Sure, mon,” he said. “Maybe your crab boat done finally come in this time, Mister Bloodmon.”




  Kirk could hardly see as he walked down the tier. The world seemed to squeeze itself into one small circle of gray, the place he had to step next. He rounded the corner, got to the phone, dialed the operator, and asked to make a collect call. He had the number memorized. He’d called it enough. The telephone rang and rang and finally Bob Morin’s secretary answered. When Bob Morin got on the phone Kirk asked him for the test results.




  “How are you, Kirk?” Bob asked first.




  “For christsakes, Bob, tell me the goddamn news.”




  Morin paused.




  “Please, Bob. What did the test say? It is back, ain’t it?”




  “It came back, Kirk, yes.”




  “Well, what did it say?” Kirk braced himself. His life had become one terrible disappointment after another.




  “The sperm stain on Dawn’s underpants, though small, was good enough to use. The new test worked, Kirk.” Morin couldn’t hide his own emotion. His voice was cracking. “They found the DNA, Kirk. The DNA said it couldn’t have been you. You’re excluded. The man who raped and killed that little girl could not have been you.” Morin felt the tears well up in his own eyes. “The DNA said it’s not you,” he repeated.




  Time passed. Several seconds of silence. “Well, I told you so, didn’t I!” Kirk finally shouted into the phone. He felt a rush of blood. “Goddamn it, of course it ain’t me! Didn’t I tell you? Ain’t I been telling you?” Kirk felt a flood sweep through his head. “Didn’t I tell you? Over and over? But no one believed me? Didn’t I . . .” Kirk stopped speaking because he realized that his hand shook so hard he could barely hold the phone. He felt lost suddenly and began to cry. He tried to control himself. Down the tier an inmate had stopped his mopping and was watching. Kirk had learned never to show weakness in front of other inmates in the prison. He tried to hold the phone still and steady to his ear and speak again. “Didn’t I tell you?” And then he couldn’t anymore. He just broke up, let the phone drop, and began to weep both with shame and without shame, covering his face to hide himself at first and then just letting himself be seen. Down the row of cages, three or four more inmates were peering out their cell doors watching him. Kirk no longer cared. The phone dangled on its aluminum cord. He stood then and whispered, “It’s over, it’s over . . .” Then he repeated it louder to no one in particular: “It’s finally over, ain’t it?” Then he raised up on tiptoes, threw his hands high in the air mimicking a touchdown, and started screaming it: “Sweet Jesus, it’s over! It’s goddamn over, Bob!” He leaned down and yelled it into the dangling phone. “It’s over, Bob! This is fucking great! It’s finally over, man!” He raised up on tiptoe again, his arms stretched high. Tears streamed down his face. He started hopping in place, then started running down the tier, his arms still up, turning one way and then another, jumping, crying and screaming. “It’s over! It’s over!” He kept hollering it. “The DNA says it ain’t me! It ain’t me! The DNA says it ain’t me. It’s over . . .”




  Bob Morin could hear all this through the phone. As he listened, he shivered with emotion. What would happen next to Kirk, how long would it take to actually free him, would the real killer ever be caught? He bowed his head thinking about how such an injustice could occur.




  Sergeant Cooley Hall was not surprised. He just leaned back against the tier wall shaking his head and whistling over this strange inmate, his friend, this Mister Bloodmon, in whom he’d come to believe.




  
PART II


  A CRIME IN FONTANA VILLAGE





  May the bad not kill the good




  Nor the good kill the bad




  I am a poet, without any bias,




  I say without doubt or hesitation




  There are no good assassins.




  —PABLO NERUDA




  
FIVE





  THE MARYLAND PENITENTIARY, the oldest continually operating prison in the Western world, sits like a medieval castle high on a promontory at the intersection of Madison and Forrest Streets in the city of Baltimore. Its grimy walls have incarcerated generations of convicts including “Negro Bob” Butler, who was reputedly the first to enter the institution upon its completion in 1811, as well as the celebrated “Tunnel Joe” Holmes, who chiseled through slate, concrete, and seventy feet of earth and clay to escape. For two centuries it has housed the state’s most violent and incorrigible criminals. Its walls enclose men who live by brute force, who seethe with anger, who are pitiless. Kirk Bloodsworth spent nearly a decade in the Maryland Penitentiary, much of it on death row.




  This mausoleum was built at an elevated altitude, supposedly to benefit from the breezes off the water. Beneficent city officials believed that the disorders that seemed to habitually infect prisoners—smallpox and dysentery—might be alleviated by fresh air. Initially, there were few buildings nearby. No one had ever heard of a skyscraper. As its population of convicted criminals grew, as time passed, this prison witnessed the dramatic growth and transformation of a society.




  The first settler of the city of Baltimore is reputed to be David Jones, who in 1661 surveyed about 380 acres of prime land along the eastern bank of Jones Falls and then built himself a house on what is now Front Street. Irish immigrants and German-speaking settlers from Pennsylvania had already begun farming the rich Susquehanna sediment covering the rolling hills of Baltimore County near where the city eventually sprang up. Easy access to a port was essential to the farmers looking to trade with England, Europe, and the West Indies. Baltimore’s natural harbor, gouged deep by a glacial trowel, fit this need.




  Throughout the eighteenth century, schooners laden with corn and tobacco sailed from Baltimore, down the wide Chesapeake into the Atlantic, and returned loaded with sugar, rum, and slaves to sell. In 1784 Baltimore City’s first police force was formed. By 1790 the population of the city had grown to over thirteen thousand and had become a favored destination for immigrants sailing to America. Greeks, Italians, Jews, Lithuanians, Poles, Ukrainians, and others found their own neighborhoods and settled into city life or moved into outlying Baltimore County to farm or trade. In 1876 Johns Hopkins University opened its doors. And on August 16, 1893, Oriole pitcher Bill Hawke threw the first modern major league no-hitter defeating rival Washington 5 to 0.




  Inevitably, as the new industrial century took shape, as Baltimore grew into a major international port, its population rapidly increased and swarms of new neighborhoods pushed the city’s boundaries away from the water, westward, northward, and eastward. Passenger steamers, ferryboats, cargo ships, oyster dredgers, and sailing clippers filled the harbor. Trolley cars careened up the city streets and railroads expanded their networks of tracks. Roads and highways crisscrossed the landscape. Outlying towns were swallowed up and absorbed by the urban spread. Crowded city neighborhoods gradually blended into crowded suburbs. In 1957 the Baltimore Harbor Tunnel opened, burrowing beneath the Patapsco River and Baltimore Harbor. Heralded as a marvel of modern construction, it allowed automobiles to travel from Washington, D.C., and points south directly north toward Philadelphia and New York on Interstate 95, without having to navigate the narrow streets and bottleneck traffic in the city. Interstate 95 was followed by Interstate 695, the Baltimore Beltway, which encircles the city with high-speed lanes. These roadways have become the conduit for millions of travelers. They also provide easy access to the many localities along their edges, places previously somewhat insulated from the outside world.




  One such area of Baltimore County, known as Essex, sits not far from the junction of these two major arteries, I-95 and I-695. Just a few miles east of the Baltimore City line, slightly north, and not far from the headwaters of Back River, this area contains a congestion of shopping centers, malls, roadways, small industrial buildings, and a host of working-class communities with names such as Rosedale, Rossville, Overlea, and Bluegrass Heights. Sandwiched between I-695 and Rossville Boulevard, and just north of Pulaski Highway and the Golden Ring Mall, sits a sprawling apartment complex of 356 units of squat, flat-roofed, two-story squares, all joined and running together in long, identical rectangular rows. These units border Bethke Pond and a low-lying wooded area, dense with thornbush and vine. The complex is known as Fontana Village. In the summer of 1984 Fontana Village received much unwanted notoriety as the scene of a terrible and brutal murder—a crime that spawned a statewide manhunt, led to one misstep after another by both the hunters and the man they accused, and rekindled a national debate over the propriety of the death penalty.




  THE MONTHS OF July and August can be hot in Baltimore. Temperatures routinely run into the nineties and the humidity turns the air clammy, making it seem even hotter. These dog days, as they’re referred to locally, send adults inside seeking air-conditioning or window fans, and kids searching for swimming pools, broken hydrants, or shaded parks. The southern flank of the city that sits on the Patapsco River benefits from the prevailing breeze skimming off the Chesapeake Bay. But the crowded neighborhoods spiraling around the city to the north feel little relief. Late afternoon thunderstorms sometimes cool the air sending swaths of steam rising from the burning, pervasive asphalt, but the heat soon returns. At times it is unrelenting.




  For the residents of Fontana Village the summer of 1984 was no different from most in regard to the weather. It had been hot and sticky. Folks living in and around that area were taking it easy. Some rose early, as the hours before and after the sun got high were the most bearable. Ladies sat outside on their adjoining front stoops and fanned themselves to feel a breeze. People put off their outdoor projects, waiting for a break in the temperature. Most families felt reasonably safe in Fontana Village. Children played around Bethke’s Pond or on swings shaded by the stands of oaks, maples, and elms that bordered the woods dense with underbrush. Mostly occupied by low-income tenants, the apartments housed plenty of kids and young parents.




  After dark on July 24 of that year, television screens could be seen flickering from some of the apartment windows in Fontana Village. News shows reported that Ronald Reagan and his running mate, George Bush, were likely to win a second term against Walter Mondale and Geraldine Ferraro; the summer Olympics were about to start in Los Angeles; movies like Beverly Hills Cop and Police Academy were popular in area theaters; a company called Apple had recently introduced a home desktop computer called the Macintosh; and there was to be a break in the weather: the next day, Wednesday, July 25, 1984, was to be cooler and less humid, with temperatures in the low to mid-eighties, a day to enjoy the outdoors.




  It was around 11 A.M. that Wednesday morning that Dawn Venice Hamilton, a pretty nine-year-old child with sandy bangs and a page-boy haircut, left the apartment in which she was staying to find some friends outside. She stopped by Bethke’s Pond and saw two boys she knew, Christian Shipley and Jackie Poling, fishing for bluegill, and noticed that one had caught a turtle. While she examined the small creature, a man approached and asked her what she was doing. She told him she was looking for her friend Lisa. By one account the man told her that he was playing hide-and-seek with Lisa and asked her if she wanted to play. By another account he simply offered to help her search. She was last seen alive walking into the nearby woods with this strange man. The border of the woods was in shadow. As Christian Shipley and Jackie Poling watched, the figures of the man and little girl traversed a culvert, crossed into this line of shadow, and quickly disappeared.
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